NO. 68619-4-I

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

ANDREW LOPEZ,

Appellant.



# ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

APPELLANT'S REVISED OPENING BRIEF

Marla L. Zink Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

##

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court abused its discretion in granting 49
   continuances of Mr. Lopez's trial while he remained in custody.
  - 2. The 49 continuances violated Criminal Rule 3.3.
- The granting of 49 continuances without sufficient consideration or explanation on the record deprived Mr. Lopez of his due process right to a sufficient record.
  - 4. The information lacked the essential element of true threat.
- The to-convict instruction lacked the essential element of true threat.
- The trial court abused its discretion in concluding the convictions for assault and felony harassment did not encompass the same criminal conduct.
- 7. The judgment and sentence erroneously fails to reflect the trial court's finding that the terms of confinement on counts one and two run concurrently.

#### B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Criminal Rule 3.3 requires an accused person held in custody be brought to trial within 60 days of arraignment. Though this period may be extended due to unforeseen and unavoidable circumstances as

well as continuances required in the administration of justice, the court must find support for such continuances on the record. Any delay must not substantially prejudice the accused person in the presentation of his or her defense. Moreover, due process entitles a criminal defendant to an adequate record of proceedings. While Mr. Lopez remained in custody, the trial court extended his trial on 49 different occasions without offering explanation other than simply that the prosecutor was in another trial (42 continuances) or lack of judicial availability (7 continuances).

- a. Did the granting of 49 continuances violate the speedy trial rule?
- b. Did the trial court's failure to inquire into the need for or explain the justification for the 49 continuances on the record violate Mr. Lopez's right to due process?
- 2. Due process requires that all essential elements of a crime be included in the charging document and to-convict jury instruction. To prove the crime of felony harassment, the State is required to prove, among other things, that the threat was a "true threat"—that is, the alleged threat is a statement that a reasonable person would foresee would be interpreted as a serious expression of intention to inflict

bodily harm upon or to take the life of another. Where the information and to-convict instruction lacked the element of true threat, was Mr. Lopez denied due process?

- 3. Where multiple crimes arise from the "same criminal conduct," they count as a single offense for purposes of calculating the individual's offender score. Offenses constitute the same criminal conduct at sentencing if the crimes were committed at the same time and place, involved the same victim, and involved the same criminal intent. Where the alleged assault and harassment occurred during the same course of conduct, were inflicted on the same victim, and derived from a single continuous criminal intent, did the offenses arise from the same criminal conduct?
- 3. At sentencing, the court clearly imposed concurrent terms of confinement. The judgment and sentence is silent as to whether the terms run concurrently or consecutively. The matter should be remanded to the trial court to correct the judgment and sentence to reflect the ruling at sentencing.

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Sophia Mohnani and Andrew Lopez were in a committed relationship. 3/27/12RP 71-72; 3/28/12RP 60. They have a young son together. 3/27/12RP 71-72; 3/28/12RP 60, 76-77.

The couple got into an argument one morning. 3/27/12RP 61, 72; 3/28/12RP 61-62. According to Ms. Mohnani, she fell to the ground in their bedroom, at which point Mr. Lopez put his hands around her neck and applied pressure. 3/27/12RP 54-55, 79, 80-81. While he was doing so, he told her he was going to kill her. 3/27/12RP 54-55, 80-81.

Ms. Mohnani got up and they argued throughout the apartment. 3/27/12RP 81-82. They ended up in the bathroom, where Ms. Mohnani again fell to the ground. 3/27/12RP 83-85. Mr. Lopez again got over her, put his hands around her neck, and applied pressure as he threatened to kill her. 3/27/12RP 84-86.

Ms. Mohnani got herself out from underneath Mr. Lopez, remained in the apartment, and called her mother. 3/27/12RP 87-90, 117-20; 3/28/12RP 26, 28-31. Her mother called the police, who came to the apartment. 3/27/12RP 91-92; 3/28/12RP 26, 31-32. When the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Each volume of the verbatim reports of proceeding is referred to by the first hearing date transcribed.

police arrived, Ms. Mohnani was not in need of any medical aid. 3/27/12RP 59, 62-63.

The State charged Mr. Lopez with assault in the second degree and felony harassment. CP 1, 24. Mr. Lopez was held in custody with an initial trial expiration date of December 19, 2011. CP 90 (initial arraignment); 10/20/11RP 1-5. The matter was continued once "in the administration of justice" because the prosecutor was in another trial. CP 92 (order for continuance). There is no further record of the basis for the extension; nonetheless the speedy trial date was reset to January 18, 2012. *Id.* Beginning on December 20, 2011, the court entered 49 additional continuances. Seven of these were based on lack of judicial availability but entered without any record other than merely an indication of "court congestion." The remaining 42 continuances were entered due to the prosecutor being engaged in other trials. Mr. Lopez moved to have the case dismissed, which the trial court denied. CP 21; 2/8/12RP 3-7; 3/26/12RP 2-6, 13-15.

When the case eventually was tried, a jury convicted Mr. Lopez as charged. CP 67-70. At sentencing, Mr. Lopez argued the assault and harassment convictions encompassed the same criminal conduct because the intent, time, place, and victim coincided. 4/13/12RP 2-3.

But the court disagreed. 4/13/12RP 3. Thus each offense counted against the other as an "other current offense," and Mr. Lopez was sentenced based on an offender score of two rather than zero. CP 78.

Additional facts are set forth in the relevant argument sections below.

#### D. ARGUMENT

1. Because Mr. Lopez was denied his right to a speedy trial by 49 trial continuances, including 7 unexplained continuances for lack of judicial availability or court congestion, the convictions should be reversed and the charges dismissed.

The extensive course of continuances violated Criminal Rule 3.3 and the lack of record created violated Mr. Lopez's constitutional due process right.

a. <u>Criminal Rule 3.3 protects an accused person's constitutional right to a speedy trial.</u>

An accused is guaranteed the right to a speedy trial by both the federal and state constitutions. *Barker v. Wingo*, 407 U.S. 514, 531-32, 92 S. Ct. 2182, 33 L. Ed. 2d 101 (1972); U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, § 22. This right "is as fundamental as any of the rights secured by the Sixth Amendment." *State v. Iniguez*, 167 Wn.2d 273, 280-81, 217 P.3d 768 (2009) (quoting *Barker*, 407 U.S. at 515 n.2).

The right to a speedy trial is also a fundamental right under Washington's speedy trial rule. *State v. Ross*, 98 Wn. App. 1, 4, 981 P.2d 88 (1999). Criminal Rule 3.3 sets a definite time line in which a trial must occur; it requires that a defendant who is in custody be brought to trial within 60 days, or the trial court must dismiss the charge.

The trial court must ensure a defendant receives a timely trial under CrR 3.3. *State v. Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d 130, 136, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009); CrR 3.3(a)(1) ("It shall be the responsibility of the court to ensure a trial in accordance with this rule to each person charged with a crime."). Certain periods may be excluded in computing the time for trial, including valid continuances granted by the court pursuant to CrR 3.3(f) and unavoidable or unforeseen circumstances. CrR 3.3(e)(3), (8). "If any period of time is excluded pursuant to section (e), the allowable time for trial shall not expire earlier than 30 days after the end of that excluded period." CrR 3.3(b)(5). The court is required to state the reasons for the delay on the record. CrR 3.3(f)(2); *Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d at 139.

Although the rule is "not a constitutional mandate," its purpose is to protect the constitutional right to a speedy trial. *Kenyon*, 167

Wn.2d at 136. Under CrR 3.3(a)(1), "it is the trial court which bears the ultimate responsibility to ensure a trial is held within the speedy trial period." *State v. Jenkins*, 76 Wn. App. 378, 382-83, 884 P.2d 1356 (1994) (emphasis in original). This responsibility "underscore[s]... the importance" of the speedy trial rule. *State v. Saunders*, 153 Wn. App. 209, 220, 220 P.3d 1238 (2009). The State also bears responsibility for seeing that the defendant is timely tried and must uphold its duty in good faith and act with due diligence. *Ross*, 98 Wn. App. at 4.

The application of the speedy trial rule to the facts of a particular case is reviewed de novo. *State v. Lackey*, 153 Wn. App. 791, 798, 223 P.3d 1215 (2009); *see, e.g., Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d 130 (speedy trial violation found through de novo review of the court's compliance with the rules regarding the continuance decision, not the discretionary decision itself). Although the application of CrR 3.3 is reviewed de novo, a trial court's factual determination to grant a continuance is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d at 135.

As discussed below, the trial court violated the speedy trial rule by repeatedly granting continuances without substantive inquiry on the record about the need for the continuances and alternatives that could be pursued to bring Mr. Lopez to trial in a timely manner.

b. The seven continuances granted for lack of judicial availability should not count as an excluded period because they were ordered without inquiry or explanation.

Routine court congestion is not a permissible reason for a continuance. *State v. Mack*, 89 Wn.2d 788, 576 P.2d 44 (1978). Delay based upon court congestion is "contrary to the public interest in prompt resolution of cases, and excusing such delays removes the inducement for the State to remedy congestion." *State v. Flinn*, 154 Wn.2d 193, 200, 110 P.3d 748 (2005).

Where a continuance is based on docket congestion or courtroom management, the speedy trial rule is violated unless (1) good cause is shown on the record for the finding and (2) the finding is tied to specific, articulable facts, rather than a generalized assertion.

Kenyon, 167 Wn.2d at 134 (reversing where trial court continued trial because trial judge was in a criminal trial and second county judge was on vacation; the "trial court should have documented the availability of pro tempore judges and unoccupied courtrooms" because, pursuant to CrR 3.3(f), it is "required to 'state on the record or in writing the reasons for the continuance' when made in a motion by the court or by

a party"); *State v. Cannon*, 130 Wn.2d 313, 327, 922 P.2d 1293 (1996) (reaffirming that a generalized assertion of docket congestion is not good cause for continuance); *State v. Smith*, 104 Wn. App. 244, 251-52, 15 P.3d 711 (2001) (routine court congestion not good cause for continuance); *State v. Warren*, 96 Wn. App. 306, 309, 979 P.2d 915 (1999) (courtroom unavailability is synonymous with court congestion) (citing *State v. Kokot*, 42 Wn. App. 733, 737, 713 P.2d 1121 (1986)). Specifically, "[w]hen the primary reason for the continuance is court congestion, the court must record details of the congestion, such as how many courtrooms were actually in use at the time of the continuance and the availability of visiting judges to hear criminal cases in unoccupied courtrooms." *Flinn*, 154 Wn.2d at 200.

Our Supreme Court has continued to apply this requirement. In Kenyon, on the eve of the confined defendant's speedy trial deadline, the trial court granted a continuance due to the unavailability of a judge—the presiding judge was presiding over another criminal case and the other county superior court judge was on vacation. 167 Wn.2d at 134. The court made no other findings, but extended the speedy trial date during the continuance period. See id. Mr. Kenyon's motion to dismiss on speedy trial grounds was denied. Id. Relying on the above-

cited precedent, the Court noted court congestion and courtroom unavailability are not valid bases for a continuance. *Id.* at 137. The Court held "simply because the rule now allows 'unavoidable or unforeseen circumstances' to be excluded in computing the time for trial does not mean judges no longer have to document the details of unavailable judges and courtrooms." 167 Wn.2d at 139. Because the record contained no information on the number or availability of unoccupied courtrooms or regarding the availability of visiting or pro tempore judges to hear criminal cases, the defendant's speedy trial right was violated. *Id.* at 137, 139.

Like in *Kenyon*, here the trial court continued Mr. Lopez's trial seven times without once discussing the availability of courtrooms and visiting or pro tempore judges. The written orders provide no evaluation of the circumstances constituting "court congestion" or "no judicial availability." CP 93, 95, 105, 125-26, 131-32. Hearings were held on only three occasions, the transcripts of which provide no further explanation or consideration of availability. 3/1/12RP 3-4.

In short, court congestion may only justify a delay if the trial court first conducts a searching examination on the record of the availability of courtrooms and pro tempore judges. *Kenyon*, 167 Wn.2d

- at 139. Here, the trial court failed to conduct such an inquiry on seven separate occasions. Those continuances were improper under CrR 3.3
  - c. The trial court abused its discretion by granting 42 other continuances based on the prosecutor's unavailability without evaluating alternatives to continuing to delay Mr. Lopez's trial while he remained in custody.

The trial court further abused its discretion and prejudiced Mr.

Lopez's right to a speedy trial by entering 42 continuances, each "in the administration of justice" while the prosecutor tried the cases of other accused persons.

Under CrR 3.3(f)(2), the court may continue a trial if it finds "such continuance is required in the administration of justice and the defendant will not be prejudiced in the presentation of his or her defense." But the court may not simply declare that the delay is required in the "administration of justice." *Saunders*, 153 Wn. App. at 220. Though a continuance may be justified in the administration of justice, the mere invocation of the words do not suffice absent a legitimate reason to delay an accused person's trial. *State v. Nguyen*, 131 Wn. App. 815, 820-21, 129 P.3d 821 (2006) (continuance not justified where granted to "track" defendant's case with unrelated charges). The court must also assess on the record the reasons for the delay and the prejudice to the defense. *Saunders*, 153 Wn. App. at 220.

No hearings were transcribed or recorded when continuances were entered on December 14, 21, 22, 27, 28, or 29, 2011. See CP 92 (December 14 continuance), 93 (minutes from December 21), 95 (December 22 continuance), 96 (December 27 continuance), 97 (December 28 continuance), 98 (December 29 continuance). In 2012, no hearings were held for continuances granted on January 2, 4, 5, 9, 11, 13, 17, 18, 23, 24, 26, 30, 31, February 1, 2, 7, 8, 15, 22, 23, March 5, 6, and 15. CP 99 (January 2 continuance), 100 (January 4) continuance), 101 (January 5 continuance), 102 (January 9 continuance), 103 (January 11 continuance), 105 (January 13 continuance), 106 (January 17 continuance), 107 (January 18 continuance), 109 (January 23 continuance), 110 (January 24 continuance), 111 (January 26 continuance), 112 (January 30 continuance), 113 (January 31 continuance), 111 (February 1 continuance), 114 (February 2 continuance), 116 (February 7 continuance), 117 (February 8 continuance), 119 (February 15 continuance), 121 (February 22 continuance), 122 (February 23 continuance), 127 (March 5 continuance), 128 (March 6 continuance), 133 (March 15 continuance). Moreover, the written orders provide no specification other than "plaintiff's counsel in trial."

With regard to the continuances which were granted "in the administration of justice" after a hearing on the record, the court failed to assess the reasons for the delay and the prejudice to the defense. The sum total of the court's inquiry, findings, explanation and evaluation is:

- "Mr. Simmons is in trial in Judge Shaffer's court. Continued to February 13 in the administration of justice." 2/8/12RP 3; CP 118.
- "We'll set that over to 2/15 because the prosecutor is in trial." 2/8/12RP 3; CP 119.
- After a non-searching inquiry about the prosecutor's trial schedule, the court stated to Mr. Lopez "I don't blame you for being impatient. I would be, too. It's not fair, what's going on. . . . If you want to know why it's happening this way, it's because there aren't enough lawyers. And I don't have an answer for you. I don't have a simple way I don't have a way to resolve it. There just aren't enough lawyers on both sides." 2/8/12RP 6-7; CP 120.
- "Mr. Simmons is in trial in Judge Shaffer's court. Continue to February 28<sup>th</sup> in the administration of justice." 2/8/12RP 10-11.
- "Mr. Simmons is in trial in Judge Shaffer's court. Continue to February 29th in the administration of justice." 2/8/12RP 11; CP 123-24.
- "Mr. Simmons is in trial in Judge Spearman's court. Continued to March 13<sup>th</sup> in the administration of justice." 3/1/12RP 3; CP 129-30.
- "Mr. Simmons is in trial in Judge Robinson's court. Continued to March 20<sup>th</sup> in the administration of justice." 3/1/12RP 4-5.

- "Mr. Simmons is in trial in Judge Robinson's court. Continue to March 22<sup>nd</sup> in the administration of justice." 3/1/12RP 5; CP 135.
- "Mr. Simmons is in trial in Judge Robinson's court. Continue to March 26<sup>th</sup> in the administration of justice." 3/1/12RP 5; CP 136-37.

The trial court and the State have a responsibility to timely bring an accused person to trial. The State is further required to responsibly manage its prosecutors' caseloads and vacations. State v. Heredia-Juarez, 119 Wn. App. 150, 154, 79 P.3d 987 (2003). To ensure the State fulfills its duties and the accused is timely brought to trial, the trial court "is entitled to determine whether reassignment is feasible and necessary in a particular situation." State v. Chichester, 141 Wn. App. 446, 455, 170 P.3d 583 (2007). Thus in State v. Kelley, this Court affirmed a trial court's continuance for a prosecutor's pre-scheduled vacation where the State considered reassignment; considered available deputy prosecutors, courtrooms, and judges; and responsibly scheduled prosecutor vacations and where the court inquired into the State's efforts and limitations on the record, including the availability of the 14 deputy prosecutors and a colloguy with the Assistant Chief Criminal Deputy Prosecutor in charge of assigning cases. State v. Kelley, 64 Wn. App. 755, 758, 764-67, 828 P.2d 1106 (1992).

The trial court here failed to even remotely approach this level of thorough inquiry. Though actual reassignment of a case to the next most qualified prosecutor may not be per se required, where the accused is in custody and the trial has been continued repeatedly because of various other trials by the prosecutor, the court must at least inquire on the record to determine when the case might realistically go to trial and whether the prosecutor's office has or should consider reassigning the case to ensure a more speedy trial. *See* CrR 3.3(f)(2); *Saunders*, 153 Wn. App. at 220. Surely the court should have done so here prior to entering 42 separate continuances with minimal or no record.

d. The failure to create a record of the basis for the trial continuances violated Mr. Lopez's constitutional due process right.

Due process entitles a criminal defendant to a "record of sufficient completeness" to present errors to the appellate court. *E.g.*, *Draper v. Washington*, 372 U.S. 487, 497, 83 S. Ct. 774, 9 L. Ed. 2d 899 (1963); *Saunders*, 153 Wn. App. at 219-21 (continuances granted without adequate explanation were abuse of discretion); Const. art. I, § 3; U.S. Const. amend. XIV. Further, CrR 3.3(f)(2) requires the court state the reasons for a continuance on the record or in writing.

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