NO. 68619-4-I

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

ANDREW LOPEZ,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE RONALD KESSLER
THE HONORABLE SHARON ARMSTRONG

## **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

LINDSEY M. GRIEVED Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys for Responder

King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Average Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650



#

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

# C. ARGUMENT

 LOPEZ'S TRIAL BEGAN WITHIN THE ALLOWABLE TIME-FOR-TRIAL PERIOD BECAUSE THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN CONTINUING HIS TRIAL DATE MULTIPLE TIMES.

Lopez contends that the trial court abused its discretion by continuing his trial multiple times and that the continuances were granted based on an insufficient record. This argument should be rejected. First of all, Lopez waived any time-for-trial objection by failing to object in a timely manner before the trial court. In any event, there was no error. Under the time-for-trial rule, trial courts are allowed to grant continuances when they deem it necessary in the administration of justice. Here, the trial court properly exercised its discretion in granting a number of continuances primarily because the DPA was occupied in other trials.

#### Relevant Facts.

Lopez was held in custody pending his trial. Thus,

CrR 3.3 required his trial be held within 60 days of the original
commencement date. On the original trial date, December 14,

2011, the assigned Deputy Prosecuting Attorney (DPA) was in trial
on another case and the court continued Lopez's case to

December 19, 2011, pursuant to CrR 3.3(f)(2), and extended his
time-for-trial expiration 30 days beyond the new trial date, pursuant
to CrR 3.3(b)(5). CP 92.

From December 19, 2011 to March 26, 2012 (the first day of Lopez's trial), Lopez's time-for-trial expiration was continued on multiple occasions in the "administration of justice" due to the DPA being unavailable while in several different trials. See Appendix 1<sup>2</sup>; 2RP 5-6, 10; 3RP 3, 4; 4RP 9. One of the continuances during this period was granted due to both the DPA and defense counsel being in trial. CP 119. Although only one continuance was granted due to joint unavailability of both attorneys, Lopez's defense counsel noted that he was assigned out to other trials approximately three times during this period, but "the trials have

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The State has prepared a table of continuances for the Court's convenience. The table is attached as Appendix 1.

never lasted more than the morning... because they were resolved." 4RP 5.

From December 19, 2011 to March 26, 2012, the court continued the trial date on seven occasions due to judicial unavailability. Appendix 1. On these occasions, the court did not make a finding that the continuance was "required in the administration of justice" and these continuances did not reset Lopez's time-for-trial expiration date to a later date. CP 93, 95, 105, 125-26, 131-32. In every instance that Lopez's trial was continued due to judicial unavailability, his time-for-trial expiration date remained the same as when it was previously set. Id.

Lopez incorrectly asserts that the "vast majority of the continuances were at the request of the State." Brief of Appellant at 17. In fact, all of the motions for continuance granted by the court were brought by the court itself. CP 92-93, 95-137; Supp. CP\_\_ (Sub # 78, Order Continuing Trial dated Feb. 13, 2012). Lopez's trial counsel correctly noted that the *only* motion for continuance brought by the State, due to witness unavailability, was denied by the court. 4RP 3.

On February 21, 2012, Lopez brought a motion to discharge his defense counsel before Chief Criminal Judge Ronald Kessler.

2RP 3-7. At the motion hearing, Lopez's defense counsel explained:

Mr. Lopez has asked me on several occasions to do a motion to dismiss for a violation of his speedy trial. I've tried to explain to him that under the current court rule and the way the speedy trial rule is written, in effect there is no speedy trial rule. And he says that he needs a lawyer who understands the speedy trial rule. I said, "You're free to ask Judge Kessler, but I think he'll explain to you that there really is no teeth to our speedy trial rule." So here we are.

2RP 4-5. Lopez then told the court, "I just want to know what's going on, that's about it." 2RP 5. Lopez's defense counsel and the DPA informed the court, based on the DPA's other pending trials and the relative newness of Lopez's case, that the DPA would likely be sent out on three or four other trials before Lopez's trial.

2RP 5-6. Lopez then requested and was granted a bond hearing.

2RP 6. Lopez then withdrew his motion to discharge his defense counsel. 2RP 6. At this hearing, although Lopez asked for an explanation of why his trial had not yet commenced, Lopez did not object to any continuances granted under CrR 3.3 nor did he bring a motion to dismiss for a CrR 3.3 violation.

On March 26, 2012, Lopez's trial began with pretrial motions before Judge Sharon Armstrong; on that date, Lopez's time-for-trial expiration date was April 25, 2012. 4RP 2; CP 137. On the first

day of trial, Lopez brought a motion to dismiss, citing CrR 3.3.

4RP 2; CP 21-22. Lopez's defense counsel argued that "the court has continued to grant continuances and extended the defendant's speedy trial because the prosecutor has been in trial...the defendant is adamant that the local rule has been violated." 4RP 5.

Addressing Lopez directly, Judge Armstrong explained that under the rule and case law, it is proper to continue a case when an attorney is unavailable in another trial. 4RP 8. Judge Armstrong continued to address Lopez:

But, you know, pounding on the table and talking about the Sixth Amendment isn't really helpful, because it doesn't really focus on the legal issue that has to be resolved, okay? So your lawyer is a very experienced lawyer, I've known him for a long time, and I trust his explanation to you about the law that applies.

Id. After hearing further argument from both Lopez and the State,
Judge Armstrong denied Lopez's motion to dismiss. 4RP 14.
Although invited to point to a single continuance granted in violation of CrR 3.3, Lopez failed to do so.

b. Review Is Barred By RAP 2.5(a) Based On Lopez's Failure To Timely Object.

RAP 2.5(a) allows the appellate court to refuse to review any claim of error that was not raised in the trial court. RAP 2.5(a). The rule requires that a party must raise an issue at trial to preserve it for appeal unless the party shows that the issue was a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. State v. Fenwick, 164 Wn. App. 392, 398, 264 P.3d 284 (2011) (citing State v. Robinson, 171 Wn.2d 292, 301, 304-06, 253 P.3d 84 (2011)). The purpose of the rule is to "encourage 'the efficient use of judicial resources' ... by ensuring that the trial court has the opportunity to correct any errors, thereby avoiding unnecessary appeals." Robinson, 171 Wn.2d at 304-05 (quoting State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988)). See also Fenwick, 164 Wn. App. at 398.

Review is barred by RAP 2.5(a) because no constitutional claim is raised and Lopez did not object under CrR 3.3 within the time required by the court rule. CrR 3.3(d)(3) requires a party to note an objection to a new trial date "within 10 days after the notice is mailed or otherwise given and move the court to set the trial within the time limits...A party who fails, for any reason, to make such a motion shall lose the right to object that a trial commenced

on such a date is not within the time limits prescribed by this rule."

See State v. Farnsworth, 133 Wn. App. 1, 130 P.3d 389 (2006)

(reversed in part on other grounds at 149 Wn.2d 402, 68 P.3d 1065 (2003)).

Superior Court Criminal Rule 3.3 states that it is the "responsibility of the court to ensure a trial in accordance with this rule to each person charged with a crime." CrR 3.3(1). Once a trial date is set, the defense has the responsibility to object in a timely manner to a perceived violation of CrR 3.3. <u>State v. Carson</u>, 128 Wn.2d 805, 912 P.2d 1016 (1996); <u>State v. Chenoweth</u>, 115 Wn. App. 726, 63 P.3d 834 (2003).

Here, Lopez did not object to a violation under CrR 3.3 until the day his trial began. 4RP 2. By that date, March 26, 2012, more than 10 days had elapsed since his expiration date was reset to a date beyond March 26, 2012.<sup>3</sup> Thus, Lopez waived any objection to his trial being heard on March 26, 2012 under CrR 3.3 by failing to make a timely objection.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The trial court ordered the time-for-trial expiration date to be reset to March 28, 2012 on February 23, 2012. CP 122.

The Trial Court Appropriately Exercised Its Discretion.

While a reviewing court generally reviews an alleged violation of the time-for-trial rule *de novo* (State v. Kenyon, 167 Wn.2d 130, 135, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009)), Lopez's contention here is that his time-for-trial right was violated by the court's granting of numerous continuances when the DPA was in trial on other cases. Accordingly, the proper standard of review here is abuse of discretion rather than *de novo* review.

A speedy trial within the CrR 3.3 time period is not a constitutional mandate and a reviewing court will not disturb a trial court's grant or denial of a motion for a CrR 3.3 continuance absent a showing of a manifest abuse of discretion. State v. Cannon, 130 Wn.2d 313, 326, 922 P.2d 1293 (1996); State v. Silva, 72 Wn. App. 80, 863 P.2d 597 (1993). A trial court abuses its discretion only where its decision was "manifestly unreasonable, or was based on untenable grounds or reasons." State v. Flinn, 154 Wn.2d 193, 199, 110 P.3d 748 (2005).

Washington's time-for-trial rule (CrR 3.3) was amended extensively to its present form in 2003. Karl B. Tegland, 4A

Washington Practice: Rules Practice 53 (2007 Pocket Part, 6<sup>th</sup> ed.

2002). One of the stated goals of the task force that proposed changes to the rule was to "provide courts with greater flexibility for getting cases heard, including flexibility with regard to court congestion." Id. at 54. To accomplish this goal, the task force proposed the addition of a limited cure period, as well as the addition of a 30-day buffer period to ensure that "following the end of an excluded period of time there will always be at least 30 days within which to bring the case to trial." Id. Both provisions were included in the amended rule. See CrR 3.3(b)(5) and (g).

In its current form, as amended in 2003, the time-for-trial rule mandates that a defendant who is detained in jail shall be brought to trial "within the longer of (i) 60 days after the commencement date specified in this rule, or (ii) the time specified in subsection (b)(5)." CrR 3.3(b)(1). Subsection (b)(5) specifies that "if any period of time is excluded pursuant to section (e), the allowable time-for-trial shall not expire earlier than 30 days after the end of that excluded period." CrR 3.3(b)(5). Continuances, defined as "delay granted by the court pursuant to section (f)," are excluded periods. CrR 3.3(e)(3).

Under section (f), a continuance may be granted "on motion of the court or a party" when "such continuance is required in the

administration of justice and the defendant will not be prejudiced in the presentation of his or her defense." CrR 3.3(f)(2). When a court grants a continuance, it "must state on the record or in writing the reason for the continuance." Id.

The rule now also dictates that "no case shall be dismissed for time-to-trial reasons except as expressly required by this rule, a statute, or the state or federal constitution." CrR 3.3(h). This section gives effect to the task force's intent "that the courts apply the proposed rule 'as is' instead of adding new requirements not already there." Tegland, 4A <u>Washington Practice</u>: Rules Practice, at 55.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting several continuances based on the unavailability of the prosecutor and/or defense attorney because of involvement in another trial.

Washington courts have consistently held that a prosecutor's unavailability due to his or her participation in another trial is good cause to continue trial. State v. Chichester, 141 Wn. App. 446, 170 P.3d 583 (2007); State v. Williams, 104 Wn. App. 516, 17 P.3d 648 (2001). Division One has expressly acknowledged that in urban areas, as is the case here, "deputy prosecutors... are required to try cases back to back, day after day, and month after month, and

year after year." State v. Kelley, 64 Wn. App. 755, 764-65, 828
P.2d 1106 (1992). In Williams, the court found that several continuances that resulted in a month-long delay were warranted in the administration of justice (although the trial court had incorrectly categorized them as "unforeseen circumstances"), due to the DPA being involved in another trial and the need for defense counsel to prepare. Id. at 522-24.

Lopez asserts that none of the many continuances in this case was validly granted, that each continuance was an abuse of the court's discretion, and that his right to a speedy trial was thus violated. To reach this conclusion, Lopez ignores the plain language of CrR 3.3 as well as precedent that establishes that a court does not abuse its discretion by continuing cases when proper grounds exist. The court delayed the start of Lopez's trial multiple times, beginning December 14, 2011, pursuant to CrR 3.3(f)(2), due to the unavailability of the DPA, and once due to the joint unavailability of the DPA and defense counsel. In doing so, the court carefully and correctly applied CrR 3.3.

With respect to the continuances initiated by the court because the DPA was in trial on other cases, Lopez cites <u>State v. Nguyen, State v. Saunders, Kelley, and Chichester, for the</u>

proposition that the court erred in granting these continuances.

Nguyen, 131 Wn. App. 815, 129 P.3d 821 (2006); State v.

Saunders, 153 Wn. App. 209, 220 P.3d 1238 (2009); Kelley, 64

Wn. App. 755; Chichester, 141 Wn. App. 446. Lopez's reliance on these cases is misplaced.

Citing to <u>Saunders</u> and <u>Nguyen</u>, Lopez incorrectly argues that the trial court failed to make an accurate record of the reasons for delay. In <u>Saunders</u> and <u>Nguyen</u>, the courts held that a trial court may not simply declare that a delay is required in the "administration of justice" without providing a legitimate reason for delay. <u>Nguyen</u>, 131 Wn. App. at 820-21; <u>Saunders</u>, 153 Wn. App. at 220. The court rule, similarly, requires that when a court grants a continuance, pursuant to CrR 3.3(f)(2), it "must state on the record or in writing the reason for the continuance."

Contrary to Lopez's argument, the trial court here did not fail to state the reasons for the trial continuances, nor did it simply declare that the continuance was in the "administration of justice." Rather the trial court, at the time *every* continuance was granted, articulated that the continuance was being granted in the "administration of justice" because one or both of the attorneys was in trial. CP 92-93, 95-137; Supp. CP\_\_ (Sub # 78). In his

argument, Lopez ignores the record of this case where the court adequately explained "on the record or in writing" that Lopez's trial was continued because the DPA was in trial. <a href="Id.">Id.</a>

Seven other trial continuances were initiated by the court based on judicial unavailability. CP 93, 95, 105, 125-26, 131-32. In these instances, however, in contrast to the instances where the DPA or defense counsel was actually in another trial, the court properly recognized that the "administration of justice" did not require the delays, and accordingly did not adjust Lopez's expiration date. <u>Id.</u> Thus, these continuances did not affect Lopez's time-for-trial. Lopez's expiration date was changed only when the court continued the trial in the "administration of justice" due to the unavailability of the DPA or defense counsel when one or both were in trial. See Appendix 1. Lopez fails to acknowledge that his expiration date was not altered based on these continuances. Instead, Lopez relies on several inapposite cases where court congestion caused a trial to be continued beyond the expiration of a defendant's time-for-trial under CrR 3.3. State v. Kenyon, 167 Wn.2d 130, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009); State v. Flinn, 154 Wn.2d 193, 110 P.3d 748 (2005).

Lopez incorrectly argues that the trial court failed to make an accurate inquiry into the reasons for judicial unavailability. In making this argument, Lopez relies on two cases where the trial courts erred by continuing a case *beyond the expiration of time-for-trial* due to court congestion without making an inquiry on the record of the reasons for such congestion. Kenyon, 167 Wn.2d at 134; Flinn, 154 Wn.2d at 200. Unlike those cases, where the court congestion led to an extension of the time-for-trial beyond the expiration date, here, the unavailability of judges did not alter Lopez's expiration date, let alone extend his trial date beyond the expiration date. Because Lopez's time-for-trial under CrR 3.3 was not extended due to judicial unavailability, the court was not required to make an inquiry into the judicial unavailability to satisfy a good cause continuance.

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